Filed 02-14-2023

Page 1 of 26

FILED 02-14-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2022AP1826-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

CARLOS AGUILAR,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DISMISSING THE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT ENTERED IN GREEN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. VALE, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JACOB J. WITTWER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041288

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

INTRODUCTION

One night before Christmas 2021, Carlos Aguilar and his wife Sandy¹ were at home with Aguilar's brother and his wife, who were living with them at the time. Aguilar's and Sandy's children were at Sandy's parents. Aguilar was drunk and in a foul mood, and his wife Sandy knew that Aguilar could be violent when he was drunk.

It was late, and Sandy was up talking with their sisterin-law, someone Aguilar did not get along with. Aguilar wanted Sandy to end the conversation and come to bed. He yelled insults at Sandy and threatened that, if she didn't come to bed on the count of ten, she "would see what happens." Soon after, Aguilar tore apart Sandy's purse and began tossing about the children's Christmas presents. Scared and upset, Sandy picked up a few presents to salvage, grabbed the keys to the new car, and headed for the door. She told Aguilar that she was going to go sit out in the car, and that she would be leaving him the next day.

Aguilar followed Sandy outside and took the keys from her. Sandy still got in the car (it was unlocked), but Aguilar opened the door and forcibly grabbed her to pull her out. Sandy resisted, even as Aguilar grabbed her by the hair, pulling it out in clumps. The sister-in-law came outside and tried to pull Aguilar off Sandy, to no avail. Aguilar finally relented when his brother came out and told him to stop. The police were called, and Aguilar told the investigating officer that he was the sole owner of the car, and he did not want Sandy in it. Aguilar was charged with one count of false imprisonment.

* * * *

¹ Sandy is a pseudonym used to protect the victim's identity. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.86(4).

Page 6 of 26

This account was taken from the investigating officer's interviews with Sandy, Aguilar, and the sister-in-law at the scene. These interviews were recorded on the officer's body cam and played at the preliminary hearing. Following the hearing, the circuit court concluded that the State had not shown probable cause for bindover and dismissed the false imprisonment count. The court said that allowing false imprisonment to be charged on these facts would turn "domestic disputes" over the right to access property into "felony crimes." The court added that it knew of no cases in which an act of false imprisonment was committed by restricting a victim's access to a place rather than confining him or her to a place.

Under Wisconsin law, a defendant must be bound over for trial when facts exist supporting *a reasonable inference* that the defendant probably committed a felony. Anyone who intentionally and without consent confines *or* restrains another with knowledge that he or she has no authority to do so commits the crime of false imprisonment. Wis. Stat. § 940.30. The "essence of false imprisonment" is "restraint by one person of the physical liberty of another."²

The evidence presented at the preliminary hearing showed that Aguilar restrained Sandy's physical liberty. Aguilar did so by preventing her from seeking refuge from his abuse in the car. This general effort included the specific restraint of grabbing and pulling Sandy's body and hair to remove her from the car. The facts presented at the preliminary hearing more than adequately support reasonable inferences satisfying the elements of false imprisonment. The facts showed that Aguilar (1) restrained Sandy; (2) intentionally; (3) without her consent; (4) without legal authority; and (5) while knowing that he lacked legal

² Herbst v. Wuennenberg, 83 Wis. 2d 768, 774, 266 N.W.2d 391 (1978).

authority to restrain her. Wis. JI–Criminal 1275 (2015). This Court should reverse the order and remand with instructions for the circuit court to reinstate the charge and bind Aguilar over for trial.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the State present sufficient facts at the preliminary hearing supporting probable cause to believe that Aguilar committed the crime of false imprisonment, requiring that he be bound over for trial on the charge?

The circuit court answered no.

This Court should answer yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests publication. The crime of false imprisonment is committed by confining *or* restraining another. *See* Wis. Stat. § 940.30. Here, the State showed that Aguilar restrained the victim. But the circuit court dismissed the false imprisonment charge because, in part, Aguilar did not confine her, and the court was unaware of any false imprisonment case in which the victim had not been confined. Publication of this Court's opinion would provide a clear and useful example in case law for a prosecution under section 940.30 based on unlawful restraint of another without confinement.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In early 2022, the State charged Carlos Aguilar in Green County Case No. 2022CF2 with false imprisonment and multiple misdemeanors. *State v. Carlos Aguilar*, Green County Case No. 2022CF2, court record, wcca.wicourts.gov (accessed Jan. 30, 2023). Following the preliminary hearing in No. 2022CF2, the circuit court dismissed the false imprisonment charge. *Id.* The record in No. 2022CF2 is not part of the record on appeal.

The State re-charged Carlos Aguilar in May 2022 with the count of false imprisonment, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.30, with a domestic abuse assessment under Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a), in Green County Case No. 2022CF79. (R. 2:1.) According to the complaint, in the early morning hours of December 12, 2021, Aguilar, drunk and belligerent, yelled at his wife Sandy, destroyed her property, and began to toss about their children's Christmas presents. (R. 2:2–4.) The children were not at the house that night.³ (R. 2:4.) Sandy grabbed the car keys and what presents she could and went to stay in the car, but Aguilar followed her and grabbed the keys. (R. 2:4.) Sandy got in the unlocked car, and Aguilar, determined to remove her from the car, grabbed Sandy by the hair and violently pulled her out. (R. 2:4.)

Aguilar's and Sandy's sister-in-law Karly and her husband Jared,⁴ Aguilar's brother, were living with Aguilar and Sandy at the time, and Karly witnessed the incident. (R. 2:3, 5–6.) Karly called the police, and the investigating officer, Brian Bennett of the City of Broadhead Police Department, interviewed Aguilar, Sandy, and Karly. (R. 2:1–6.)

The circuit court, the Honorable Thomas J. Vale, held the preliminary hearing on July 20, 2022. (R. 20:1.) This time, the State supplemented Officer Bennett's testimony with the

 $^{^3}$ The couple have one child together, a son. Aguilar has a daughter from a prior relationship. (R. 33 Video 1 at 4:25.)

⁴ Karly and Jared are also pseudonyms. It is unclear whether either are victims under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.86(3) for purposes of the remaining misdemeanor charges in Case No. 2022CF2, but not using their real name further protects Sandy's identity. The State did not use Karly's real name in the criminal complaint. (R. 2:5–6.)

full body cam recordings of the officer's field interviews with Aguilar, Sandy, and Karly. (R. 20:35.)

Officer Bennett testified that, when he arrived on the scene, he spoke with Aguilar at the residence. (R. 20:9–10.) The State asked Bennett about Aguilar's purported statement in the complaint that he followed Sandy out to the car because he was "worried where [Sandy] may go since she had been drinking." (R. 2:7.) The court apparently relied, in part, on this statement in the first preliminary hearing in concluding that Aguilar had not falsely imprisoned Sandy; he removed her from the car to prevent her from driving drunk. (R. 2:7.) But Officer Bennett admitted that, upon reviewing the body cam recording, Aguilar actually said nothing at all about being concerned that Sandy might drive drunk. (R. 20:12–13; 30 Videos 1 and 2.)⁵

Rather, the body cam recording of the interview at the scene showed that Aguilar initially told the officer that he did not want Sandy in the car because, he claimed, the car was his and he "thought she was going to leave with my car." (R. 30 Video 1 at 1:10.) Aguilar's explanations moments later suggested that he understood Sandy intended only to sit in the car. Aguilar said he told her: "I don't want you in the car, because it's cold out there. Not even that, it's like, don't be in the car because I don't want you in the car." (R. 30 Video 1 at 2:15.)

On the recording of Office Bennett's interview of Aguilar at the station, Aguilar said that he and Sandy had

⁵ Record 30 is a DVD containing four video files of Officer Bennett's body cam recordings of his contact with Aguilar at the scene, in the squad car, and at the police station in the early morning hours of December 12, 2021. Video 1, named on the disc as 2021-12-12_03-35-44 00_00_00-00_07_58, is the officer's interview with Aguilar at the scene. (R. 20:19) Video 4, named 2021-12-12_04-40-42, shows the officer's interview of Aguilar at the station later that morning. (R. 20:20–23.)

argued over how much the couple would be spending on Christmas. (R. 30 Video 4 at 5:20.) When the officer began to ask him about pulling Sandy from the car, Aguilar admitted, "I was being aggressive. I shouldn't have done what I did, I know." (R. 30 Video 4 at 6:20.)

The State next played the body cam recording of Officer Bennett's interviews with Sandy. (R. 20:24; 33 Videos 1 and 3.) Sandy, visibly distraught, said at first that she didn't want to talk and get her husband in trouble. (R. 33 Video 1 at :05, 1:00.) But she explained that she had been talking with Karly and Jared when Aguilar came into the room and started "yelling" and her and calling her "retarded." (R. 33 Video 1 at 1:15.) Aguilar then said that if Sandy didn't come to bed on the count of ten, she would "see what would happen." (R. 33 Video 1 at 1:20.) Sandy said that she soon found that Aguilar had dumped out the contents of her purse and "ripped it to shreds," and that the Christmas presents she had bought their son "were scattered everywhere." (R. 33 Video at 1:30, 5:40.) She said she was "scared because I've been through this, I know how he gets . . . when he's been drinking." (R. 33 Video 1 at 1:55.) She said he gets "violent" when he drinks. (R. 33 Video 1 at 6:25.)

Sandy said she then "grabbed what I could of my son's presents, to salvage them" and the keys to the "new car"—the keys to the "old car" weren't there, she said—"and I wanted to sit in the car with the presents and get myself safe." (R. 33 Video 1 at 2:10.) She continued: "I was scared and I just wanted to sleep out there if I had to" (R. 33 Video 1 at 2:30.) Sandy said that she told Aguilar that she "was going to go sit in the car." (R. 33 Video 3 at :10.) "I told him I was going to go sleep in the car." (R. 33 Video 3 at :10.) She said that this statement "is what escalated the situation." (R. 33 Video 3 at :10.)

She said that when she got to the car she turned around and Aguilar "was right behind me screaming at me and he took the keys from my hand." (R. 33 Video 1 at 2:45.) She said the car was unlocked, so she got in. (R. 33 Video 1 at 2:50.) But Aguilar then opened the door and "grabbed me by my hair and pulled." (R. 33 Video 1 at 2:55.) Through tears, Sandy said "he pulled me hard," and she found "clumps" of hair on the floor of the car. (R. 33 Video 1 at 3:10.) She said that she thought Aguilar was trying to get her out of the car and to come inside, "but I didn't want to come inside." (R. 33 Video 1 at 4:10.)

The State also played the recording of Karly's account of the incident. (R. 20:26–27; 33 Video 2.) Karly told Officer Bennett that she saw Sandy seated in the car's passenger seat of the car, telling Aguilar, "Just leave me alone!" (R. 33 Video 2 at :10.) Aguilar then started pulling on Sandy to remove her from the car, and Sandy called out for help. (R. 33 Video 2 at :15.) Karly came outside and tried pulling Aguilar off Sandy, to no avail. (R. 33 Video 2 at :30.) The altercation finally ended when Aguilar's brother Jared came out and told Aguilar to stop. (R. 33 Video 2 at :35.)⁶

Karly called the police, over Sandy's objections. (R. 33 Video 2 at :45.) Karly said that, after the incident, Sandy was crying and holding her head and showed Karly some clumps of hair that Aguilar had pulled out. (R. 33 Video 2 at 1:45.)

On cross-examination, Officer Bennett said that the car at issue was parked on the street near the residence. (R. 20:36.) The officer agreed that, based on the witness's statements, Sandy was not prevented from leaving the house, and she succeeded in entering the car. (R. 20:44–45.) The officer testified that, despite Aguilar's efforts, Aguilar was

 $^{^{6}}$ Jared declined to speak with the officer. (R. 33 Video 1 at 10:40.)

unable to remove Sandy from the car. (R. 20:45.) The officer acknowledged that not all his interactions with the witnesses and Aguilar were recorded on the body camera. (R. 20:38.)

The parties subsequently briefed the issue of whether the State had shown probable cause to bind Aguilar over for trial on the false imprisonment charge. (R. 16:1–8; 17:1–9; 18:1–5.) The State highlighted facts showing that Sandy was a victim of domestic abuse, and that Aguilar prevented her from seeking refuge from him in the car. (R. 16:1–3, 6.) The State argued that it had met its burden at the preliminary hearing by presenting evidence that Aguilar forcefully and violently restrained Sandy's freedom of movement "by chasing her outside, taking the keys, and pulling her out of the car." (R. 16:6.) The State noted that Sandy said that she believed Aguilar was pulling her from the car because he wanted her back in the house. (R. 16:6–7.)

In response, Aguilar argued that he did not commit the crime of false imprisonment because he believed that he had lawful authority to remove Sandy from the vehicle—he maintained that he was its sole owner—and the evidence, Aguilar argued, did not support a plausible inference that he knew that he lacked this authority. (R. 17:4–5.) Aguilar also argued that the State had failed to show that he had confined or restrained Sandy. (R. 17:6.) He never tried to prevent Sandy from moving or tried to keep her in one place. Further, Sandy was not restrained by Aguilar's forcible efforts to remove her from the car because, he argued, she could have avoided Aguilar's response by not entering his car, or by stepping out when he asked her to. (R. 17:6.)

On August 24, 2022, the court issued a bench ruling dismissing the false imprisonment charge for lack of probable cause. (R. 19:5, A-App. 7.) "What is clear," the court began, "is that the defendant told the victim he did not want her in the car. She understood that. She went in the car." (R. 19:5, A-App. 7.) "The defendant did not prevent his wife from leaving the house. He followed her to the car." (R. 19:5, A-App. 7.) The court added that, once the altercation at the car ended, "[t]here is no evidence that [Aguilar] prevented [Sandy] from leaving the premises or forced her in any direction." (R. 19:5, A-App. 7.) The court noted that, when asked if Aguilar "prevent[ed] you from leaving anywhere," Sandy said no, "because I wasn't going to leave." (R. 19:5, A-App. 7.)

The court then asked the State a hypothetical question: Would it have been false imprisonment if Aguilar had "just used the remote lock to lock the doors on the car" to prevent Sandy from entering? (R. 19:6, A-App. 8.) "Possibly," the State responded, noting that locking the door would have restricted Sandy's freedom of movement. (R. 19:6, A-App. 8.) The court said that it had not found "any cases" of false imprisonment in which the defendant had limited the victim's access to a place, "as opposed to holding you in." (R. 19:17–18, A-App. 19– 20.)

The court repeatedly referred to the incident as a "domestic dispute." (R. 19:10, 17–19, A-App. 12, 19–21.) In the court's view, this dispute was primarily about access to property. (R. 19:10, A-App. 12.) At issue was whether Aguilar was the sole owner of the vehicle, and the court expressed concern about escalating "a marital domestic dispute" about access to property "to a felony crime." (R. 19:10, A-App. 12.) "It's a domestic dispute here," the court said. (R. 19:17, A-App. 19.) "They are disputing who has a right to control this vehicle." (R. 19:17, A-App. 19.)

Returning to the hypothetical, the court concluded: "If I use the remote and I lock the doors to this car, and I have limited my spouse from having access to the car[,] by my reading here I don't think that is a loss of freedom." (R. 19:17– 18, A-App. 19–20.) The court then introduced another hypothetical: "[Suppose] I have limited access to a specific location, a chair in the house." (R. 19:18, A-App. 20.) "What if we both want to sit in the chair," the court continued, "and I pull you out of the chair and you pull me out of the chair . . . which is essentially what is happening here. Have I committed false imprisonment at that point? I now have a felony charge because of this." (R. 19:18, A-App. 20.) The court then dismissed the false imprisonment count for lack of probable cause. (R. 19:1, 19–20, A-App. 3, 21–22.)

The State appeals.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Review of a circuit court's decision about whether to bind a case over for trial is *de novo*. *State v. Anderson*, 2005 WI 54, ¶ 26, 280 Wis. 2d 104, 695 N.W.2d 731. When reviewing a circuit court's bindover decision, an appellate court "will examine the factual record ab initio and decide, as a matter of law, whether the evidence constitutes probable cause." *Id*. (citation omitted). The reviewing court "will search the record for any substantial ground based on competent evidence to support" bindover. *Id*. (citation omitted).

ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in dismissing the false imprisonment charge because facts presented at the preliminary hearing supported probable cause to believe that Aguilar committed the offense.

- A. Legal principles
 - 1. When the facts support a reasonable inference that the defendant committed a felony, the court should bind the defendant over for trial.

If, upon the preliminary hearing, "the court finds probable cause to believe that a felony has been committed by the defendant, it shall bind the defendant over for trial." Wis. Stat. § 970.03(7). The defendant must be bound over when

Page 15 of 26

facts exist supporting a reasonable inference that the defendant probably committed a felony. *Anderson*, 280 Wis. 2d 104, ¶ 25. Probable cause is satisfied when there exists "a believable or plausible account" of the defendant's commission of a felony. *State v. Williams*, 198 Wis. 2d 479, 493, 544 N.W.2d 400 (1996).

At a preliminary hearing, the court may not choose between competing facts and inferences, and it may not weigh the state's evidence against evidence favorable to the defendant. *State v. Schaefer*, 2008 WI 25, ¶ 34, 308 Wis. 2d 279, 746 N.W.2d 457. If a reasonable inference supports probable cause and an equally reasonable inference supports innocence, the court should bind the defendant over for trial. *Anderson*, 280 Wis. 2d 104, ¶ 24; *State v. Dunn*, 117 Wis. 2d 487, 489–90, 345 N.W.2d 69 (Ct. App. 1984).

"[T]he preliminary hearing 'is intended to be a summary proceeding to determine essential or basic facts' relating to probable cause, not a 'full evidentiary trial on the issue of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Stuart*, 2005 WI 47, ¶ 30, 279 Wis. 2d 659, 695 N.W.2d 259 (quoting *State v. Dunn*, 121 Wis. 2d 389, 396–97, 359 N.W.2d 151 (1984)).

> 2. A defendant may commit false imprisonment by either confining another *or* restraining his or her physical liberty.

A person who "intentionally confines *or* restrains another without the person's consent and with knowledge that he or she has no lawful authority to do so is guilty" of false imprisonment. Wis. Stat. § 940.30 (emphasis added). The Wisconsin Supreme court has stated that "[t]he essence of false imprisonment is the intentional, unlawful, and unconsented restraint by one person of the physical liberty of another." *Herbst v. Wuennenberg*, 83 Wis. 2d 768, 774, 266

Page 16 of 26

N.W.2d 391 (1978) (citing *Dupler v. Seubert*, 69 Wis. 2d 373, 381, 230 N.W.2d 626 (1975)). *Herbst* was a civil case involving an action for the tort of false imprisonment, but its statement about "restraint . . . of the physical liberty of another" being the "essence of false imprisonment" has also been applied to the crime of false imprisonment. *See* Wis. JI–Criminal 1275 comment 5 at p. 4 (2015) (quoting *Herbst*, 83 Wis. 2d at 774); *State v. Burroughs*, 2002 WI App 18, ¶ 18, 250 Wis. 2d 180, 640 N.W.2d 190 (same).

The elements of false imprisonment are as follows:

- (1) The defendant confined or restrained [the victim].
- (2) The defendant confined or restrained [the victim] intentionally.

This requires that the defendant had the mental purpose to confine or restrain [the victim].

- (3) [The victim] was confined or restrained without (his) (her) consent.
- (4) The defendant had no lawful authority to confine or restrain [the victim].
- (5) The defendant knew that [the victim] did not consent and knew that (he) (she) did not have lawful authority to confine or restrain [the victim].

Wis. JI–Criminal 1275 (2015).

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