FILED 03-17-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2022AP1826-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

CARLOS AGUILAR,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DISMISSING THE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT ENTERED IN GREEN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. VALE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

DUXSTAD, BESTUL & McNAUGHTON, S.C. Robert S. Duxstad Attorney for Defendant-Respondent Carlos Aguilar State Bar No. 01018491 P.O. Box 737 1112 17th Avenue Monroe, WI 53566 (608) 325-4924 (877) 866-7560 (Fax) duxstad@duxstadlaw.com

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

ARGUMENT

- I. THE STATE IMPROPERLY REISSUED A CRIMINAL COMPLAINT WITHOUT NEW OR UNUSED EVIDENCE FOLLOWING DISMISSAL OF THE FELONY CHARGE AT A PRELIMINARY HEARING IN CASE NO. 2022-CF-2, THEREFORE THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED THE NEW COMPLAINT IN CASE NO. 2022-CF-79.
 - A. The State Cannot Refile A Charge Dismissed After A Preliminary Hearing Unless It Produces New Or Unused Evidence Supporting A Different Result.

22-CF-79's Criminal Complaint contains a word-for-word identical factual basis to the Criminal Complaint from 22-CF-2.¹² It follows that, if the State did not present any new or unused evidence during the Second Preliminary, the Criminal Complaint that is the basis for this action should be dismissed.

Preliminary examinations are governed by Wis. Stat. § 970.03. Wis. Stat. § 970.04 governs when the State can reissue a criminal complaint against a defendant following dismissal at a preliminary examination, allowing another complaint only when the State has or discovers additional evidence. A criminal complaint cannot be reissued when the State possesses no new or unused evidence supporting a different outcome. *Wittke v. State ex rel Smith*, 80 Wis. 2d 332, 259 N.W.2d 515 (1977). New and unused evidence, in this context, is not evidence that is merely cumulative or collaborative. *State v. Johnson*, 231 Wis. 2d 58, 604 N.W.2d 902 (Ct. App. 1999). Considerations of fairness and public policy afforded to a criminal defendant demand that the State shall not be permitted to forego an appeal

The only substantive difference is that the State did not recharge the three

17

misdemeanor counts charged in 22-CF-2, as those were not dismissed following the First Preliminary.

Case 2022AP001826 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-17-2023 Page 18 of 31

and instead subject a defendant to successive preliminary examinations where it can produce no new or unused evidence. *Wittke*, 80 Wis. 2d at 343.

B. Compared To The Evidence Presented At The 22-CF-2 Preliminary Hearing, The State Presented No New Or Unused Evidence Supporting A Different Result During The 22-CF-79 Preliminary Hearing.

The Honorable Thomas J. Vale, Green County Circuit Court Judge, presided over the First Preliminary on March 18, 2022. (Rec. 15 at 1.) During that hearing, in an attempt to present evidence sufficient to support a reasonable inference that Carlos committed a felony, the State offered the testimony of Officer Bennett. (Rec. 15 at 2:19-8:9.) This testimony established that Carlos and Sandy were involved in a domestic dispute that turned physical over access to a vehicle, and that Carlos ultimately attempted to pull her out of the vehicle. *Id.* Officer Bennett's account of the situation was based on his interviews at the scene with Carlos, Sandy, and Carlos' sister-in-law, Karly. *Id.* At the conclusion of the First Preliminary, the Court found the State had not offered sufficient evidence, based on Officer Bennett's testimony, to support a reasonable inference that Carlos had probably committed a felony. (Rec. 15 at 30:23-32:17.) The State filed a *Motion to Reconsider*, which the Court denied following a hearing on May 23, 2022. (R-App. at 11.)

The State then reissued a factually identical Criminal Complaint in 22-CF-79 on May 24, 2022, again charging Carlos with a single count of false imprisonment. (Rec. 2.) During the Second Preliminary, on July 20, 2022, the State again offered Bennett's testimony, supplementing it with body camera footage of the events he was testifying to. (Rec. 20 at 7:14-35:14.) This evidence revealed that Carlos and Sandy were involved in a domestic dispute that turned physical over access to a vehicle that culminated

Case 2022AP001826 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-17-2023 Page 19 of 31

with Carlos pulling on Sandy's hair while attempting to remove Sandy from said vehicle. *Id.* At the oral ruling for the Second Preliminary, the Court again dismissed the complaint because the State had again failed to put forth evidence sufficient to support a reasonable inference that Carlos had probably committed a felony. (Rec. 19 at 19:19-22:4.)

The State presented no new or unused evidence at the Second Preliminary compared to that presented during the First Preliminary. The same officer testified to the same events, leading to the same conclusions by the same Court. The transcript from the First Preliminary was admitted as Exhibit 3 in the Second Preliminary. The only difference between the two hearings was the cumulative evidence presented in the form of the video footage of the events Officer Bennett had already testified to. Officer Bennett did not testify as to any additional investigation conducted after his initial report and prior testimony given at the First Preliminary. There were no new witnesses called to testify.

Cumulative evidence is not new evidence. *Johnson*, 231 Wis. 2d at 68. Cumulative evidence is not unused evidence. *Id.* Cumulative evidence cannot support the reissuance of a criminal complaint following dismissal at a preliminary examination. *Id.* Cumulative evidence does not vitiate the considerations of public policy and fairness that demand the State appeal the dismissal of a felony charge following a preliminary hearing rather than refiling an identical criminal complaint. *See Id.*; *Wittke*, 80 Wis. 2d at 343. The State could have appealed the dismissal of the false imprisonment charge following the First Preliminary and ensuing *Motion to Reconsider*, but instead chose to improperly re-issue an identical criminal complaint with no new or unused evidence to support it; this was improper according to the laws of this State. Therefore, the Trial Court correctly dismissed the Complaint

Case 2022AP001826 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-17-2023 Page 20 of 31

in 22-CF-79 at the conclusion of the Oral Ruling following the Second Preliminary.

- II. IRRESPECTIVE OF THE PROPRIETY OF ISSUING A SECOND COMPLAINT FOR FALSE IMPRISONMENT, THE STATE STILL DID NOT PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE AT THE SECOND PRELIMINARY EXAMINATION TO SUPPORT A REASONABLE INFERENCE THAT THE DEFENDANT PROBABLY COMMITTED A FELONY.
 - A. The Granting Of A Bindover At A Preliminary Examination Is Not An Automatic Exercise By The Trial Court.

The State's burden at a preliminary examination is probable cause, meaning presenting sufficient evidence to support a reasonable inference that the Defendant probably committed a felony. Wis. Stat. § 970.03; *State v. Dunn*, 121 Wis. 2d 389, 398, 359 N.W.2d 151 (1984).

The screening function of the preliminary hearing recognizes that "[i]f the inference that the accused committed a felony is so weak that drawing it still does not establish a plausible account of probable guilt, it is within the discretion of the magistrate to decline to find probable cause to bind him over for trial." *Id.* at 398. There are great costs to a defendant associated with criminal prosecution, including expense, delay, anxiety, and public embarrassment. *State v. Richer*, 174 Wis. 2d 231, 241, 496 N.W.2d 66 (1993). These costs are exacerbated when the State is pursuing a hasty, malicious, improvident, and oppressive prosecution. *Id.* In the instant case, the Trial Court correctly denied bindover to protect Carlos from a harassing and oppressive prosecution, especially in light of the extensive proceedings Carlos has already endured in 22-CF-2.

Case 2022AP001826 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-17-2023 Page 21 of 31

B. At The Preliminary Examination, The State Failed To Meet Its Burden Of Establishing All Five Elements Of False Imprisonment.

Probable cause, in the preliminary examination context, requires some evidence sufficient to support a reasonable inference that a defendant committed every element of a felony. *See State v. Cotton*, 2003 WI App 154, ¶ 23, 266 Wis. 2d 308, 668 N.W.2d 346. In the instant case, the State failed to present sufficient evidence that Carlos committed the first and fifth elements of false imprisonment, and therefore the lower Court's decision to deny bindover was proper.

At its core, false imprisonment requires intentional and nonconsensual confinement. *State v. Burroughs*, 2002 WI App 18, ¶ 19, 250 Wis. 2d 180, 640 N.W.2d 190. Along those lines, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has called the essence of false imprisonment "the intentional, unlawful, and unconsented restraint by one person of the physical liberty of another". *Herbst v. Wuennenberg*, 83 Wis. 2d 768, 774, 266 N.W.2d 391 (1978). While Herbst is a civil case, its holding, as it relates to false imprisonment, has been applied in the criminal context. *See Burroughs*, 2002 WI App at ¶ 18.

The Wisconsin Criminal Jury Instruction for false imprisonment lists its elements as:

- (1) The defendant confined or restrained the victim.
- (2) The defendant confined or restrained the victim intentionally.
- (3) The victim was confined or restrained without their consent.
- (4) The defendant had no lawful authority to confine or restrain the victim.
- (5) The defendant knew that the victim did not consent and knew that they did not have lawful authority to confine or restrain the victim.

Case 2022AP001826 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-17-2023 Page 22 of 31

Wis. JI-Criminal 1275 (2015).

The jury instruction explains that the confinement or restraint of the victim must be genuine, but not necessarily in a jail or prison. *Id.* Still, the instruction contemplates some act by the Defendant of restricting the victim to a specific location, explaining that false imprisonment occurs where the Defendant deprives the victim of freedom of movement or compels the victim to remain where they do not wish. *Id.* This idea of restraining or confining a victim to a particular location was further endorsed by the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *State v. Long*, where it found sufficient evidence to support a false imprisonment conviction where the Defendant hugged the victim tightly, preventing her from moving for a duration of time.

The State addressed each element of false imprisonment in its brief; Carlos will address only the first and fifth elements of the crime, as those elements form the basis for the lower Court's decision to deny bindover. To that end, it is Carlos' position that the State presented insufficient evidence to support a reasonable inference that he probably committed the first and fifth elements of false imprisonment.

1. The State did not present sufficient evidence to support a reasonable inference that Carlos confined or restrained Sandy as those terms are used in Wis. Stat. § 940.30.

Any confinement or restraint of movement must be genuine for a Defendant to be guilty of false imprisonment. Wis. JI—Criminal 1275 (2015). While the State presented evidence that Carlos pulled Sandy's hair in an apparent attempt to pull her out of his vehicle, that act does not constitute false imprisonment pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 940.30 because Carlos never attempted to or succeeded in confining Sandy to a specific location or restricted her movement from a location.

Case 2022AP001826 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-17-2023 Page 23 of 31

The seminal Wisconsin case on false imprisonment is *Herbst v*. Wuennenberg, where the court held that "the essence of false imprisonment is the intentional, unlawful, and unconsented restraint by one person of the physical liberty of another." *Herbst*, 83 Wis. 2d at 774. The context of this holding makes it clear that the Court did not construe every literal restraint of another person's liberty to be false imprisonment. Immediately following the verbiage discussing the essence of false imprisonment, the *Herbst* Court held that there can be no cause of action for false imprisonment unless there is confinement that is contrary to the will of the "prisoner". *Id.* Additionally, the entire decision relies on the Restatement (Second) of Torts, which includes as a necessary element that an actor acts intending to confine another, or a third person, within boundaries fixed by the actor. *Id.*; Restatement (Second) of Torts § 35 (Am. Law. Inst. 1965). *Herbst* also relies on Dupler v. Seubert, 69 Wis. 2d 373, 230 N.W.2d 626 (1975) and Maniaci v. Marquette University, 50 Wis. 2d 287, 184 N.W.2d 168 (1971) in determining the essence of false imprisonment, both of which rely on the Restatement to define the tort. This context makes it obvious that restraining the physical liberty of another is only false imprisonment when coupled with some element of confining or restraining the victim to a specific location. Based on this analysis, under the *Herbst* standard, Carlos' actions involved in attempting to pull Sandy out of his vehicle clearly do not constitute false imprisonment because he was not attempting to confine or restrain Sandy to a specific location.

Additionally, although *Herbst* has been relied on in the criminal context, it is ultimately a civil case. *Burroughs*, on the other hand, is a criminal case with explicit language that false imprisonment requires confinement; it is also the case which the State cites to support its assertion that *Herbst* has been applied in the criminal context. While *Burroughs* does

Case 2022AP001826 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-17-2023 Page 24 of 31

cite to *Herbst* regarding false imprisonment, it ultimately concludes that, whatever the essence of the crime may be, at its core, it requires confinement. *Burroughs*, 2002 WI App at ¶ 19. "Fidelity to precedent, the doctrine of *Stare Decisis*, is fundamental to 'a society governed by the rule of law." *Citizens Utility Bd. v. Klauser*, 194 Wis. 2d 484, 513, 534 N.W.2d 608 (1995) (*citing Akron v. Akron Center for Reproductive Health, Inc.*, 462 U.S. 416, 420, 103 S.Ct. 2481, 76 L.Ed.2d 687 (1983). "The published decision of any one of the panels of the court of appeals has binding effect on all panels." *Skrupky v. Elbert*, 189 Wis. 2d 31, 56, 526 N.W.2d 264 (Ct. App. 1994). The language from the *Burroughs* decision, stating that criminal false imprisonment cannot occur without confinement, is binding on this Court; therefore, the lower Court's decision must be affirmed.

The State relies on *State v. Long* to support its assertion that a Defendant need only to confine or restrain a victim to be guilty of false imprisonment, but that decision is hardly analogous to the instant case. The Defendant in *Long* restricted the victim's movement by hugging her tightly, restraining her movement and confining her to a specific location while committing an act of sexual assault. *Long*, 2009 WI at ¶ 10. The facts in the instant case are very dissimilar to those in *Long*. Carlos never restricted Sandy to a specific location, nor did he sexually assault her. Additionally, the *Long* court only held that false imprisonment is not limited to circumstances where the Defendant confines the victim inside a structure, it did not hold that false imprisonment can occur even if the Defendant does nothing to confine or restrain a victim in a specific location. *See id.* at ¶ 28. Most important, the *Long* decision contains no language abrogating the *Burroughs* language requiring confinement for criminal false imprisonment in Wisconsin.

Case 2022AP001826 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-17-2023 Page 25 of 31

The State does not allege that Carlos ever confined Sandy. Instead, it alleges that Carlos asked Sandy to leave his vehicle, and then attempted to remove her after she refused to leave; if anything, he tried to compel movement, not restrain or confine Sandy. Carlos never prevented Sandy from remaining on the premises or leaving. He simply was preventing her from using personal property that he had a lawful right to use himself. This scenario was clearly established by the testimony at both preliminary examinations. Officer Bennett testified that when he interviewed Sandy on the night of the incident, she said that she had not been restrained or confined by Carlos. (Rec. 15 at 12:8-13.) While Sandy stated to the officer that Carlos was intending to hurt her when he pulled on her hair, he was only doing this to get her out of his vehicle. (Rec. 15 at 12:8-13.) When asked a second time if she felt Carlos was trying to prevent her from leaving anywhere, she stated she honestly did not know. (Rec. 15 at 20:18-21:12.)

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